

# Next-Generation Accountability Systems

An Overview of Current State Policies and Practices

Center for American Progress and the Council of Chief State School Officers

October 2014





# Next-Generation Accountability Systems

An Overview of Current State Policies and Practices

Center for American Progress and the Council of Chief State School Officers
October 2014

### Contents

- 1 Introduction and summary
- 5 Background
- 7 Measuring progress toward college and career readiness
- 13 Diagnosing and responding to challenges via school-based quality improvement
- 19 Developing state systems of support and intervention
- 29 Resource accountability
- 33 Professional accountability for teachers and leaders
- 41 Challenges to implementing next-generation accountability
- 45 System coherence
- 49 Conclusion
- 50 Methodology
- 51 Acknowledgements
- 52 Endnotes

## Introduction and summary

Over the past six years, there has been a significant shift in education. States recognized that students were not being taught at levels that adequately prepared them for college and careers and stepped up to develop and implement more rigorous standards. As part of this transition, states have also committed to better supports for educators to adapt to the new standards, better assessments to measure student learning, and better accountability systems to understand where schools are struggling and how to help them improve.

Accountability systems provide the underlying structure for school and district support and improvement. State systems should hold all stakeholders accountable for student success, starting with the state and ending with the teacher in the classroom. States, districts, and schools should provide the support and resources necessary to improve achievement for all students, including at-risk students. Accountability systems should include strategies and systems for development of the teaching profession. These systems must recognize success while also enforcing consequences and providing support to the schools and districts most in need of improvement. States are moving forward on all of these fronts.

However, as educators and states were making progress, Congress remained stagnant, failing to revise and reauthorize the federal education accountability law, known as No Child Left Behind, or NCLB.<sup>2</sup> Frustrated by this inaction, state leaders came together in 2011 to put forth a proposal that modeled the next-generation accountability systems.<sup>3</sup> Building on the positive aspects of NCLB, the Council of Chief State School Officers, or CCSSO, released a vision for the future of accountability systems.<sup>4</sup> This vision described an accountability system that is grounded in college- and career-readiness standards, collects a broader array of data to more accurately understand school and district performance, and uses those data to better support schools and districts, with an emphasis on the lowest performing.

Since then, states have built upon these principles to advance accountability systems. Some states have taken advantage of the opportunity to request flexibility from specific provisions of NCLB from the U.S. Department of Education. States can receive flexibility from a few of NCLB's outdated requirements by adopting reforms in three key areas: college- and career-readiness standards and assessments, systems of differentiated accountability and support, and teacher and principal evaluation.<sup>5</sup>

In order to illustrate the variety of innovative approaches to accountability that states are exploring, this report provides examples of next-generation accountability concepts implemented by states. While this study provides an overview of the landscape, it is not fully representative of the variety of state approaches to accountability. In reviewing the work of the states and drawing upon the thinking in both CCSSO's 2011 proposal and "Accountability for College and Career Readiness: Developing a New Paradigm" by Linda Darling-Hammond, Gene Wilhoit, and Linda Pittenger, we found that current reforms fell into five broad categories, which we describe in detail in each section of this report:

- Measuring progress toward college and career readiness Many states are rethinking mechanisms for measuring progress based on assessments and are including additional measures of college and career readiness such as the percentage of high school graduates who require remediation coursework in college.
- Diagnosing and responding to challenges via school-based quality improvement Many states and districts are using a broad array of quality indicators, such as parent volunteer hours and attendance data, to measure school success and develop school-improvement plans, as well as making use of third-party experts to assist them in this work.
- State systems of support and intervention States and districts are rethinking the way they support struggling schools. Some of the most prevalent strategies include school support teams, pairing high-growth schools with low-performing schools, networks of low-performing schools, engaging external providers, and recovery school districts.

#### · Resource accountability

Some states and districts are focusing more intently on the connections between resource allocation and outcomes, and several have tried to aggressively tackle inequitable school funding with new state funding formulas. Others are working to increase transparency and accountability for how funds are being spent to ensure that high-need students are receiving adequate support.

#### · Professional accountability

Most states have adopted new systems for evaluating and supporting teachers and leaders. However, some states are leveraging these new evaluation systems to create more robust on-site embedded professional development systems and developing school leaders, such as principals, to effectively carry out teacherevaluation systems and instructional leadership. In addition, a number of states are also rethinking other aspects of the teaching profession, including teacher licensure, teacher-preparation program approval and accreditation, and selection, retention, and tenure.

It is essential to note that the trends and state examples that follow are provided to illustrate patterns of reform across the 50 states, but that the individual state reforms we have highlighted may or may not have resulted in successful improvement of student outcomes. At the same time, through our review of the landscape, we have identified some barriers that states, districts, and schools must tackle in order to move this work forward. These barriers are complex and interconnected: They include transitioning to new assessments, developing richer measures of student and school success, staffing school improvement teams, creating resource accountability systems, and strengthening the teaching profession.

Policymakers developing accountability reforms should give considerable thought to system coherence across all five areas, rather than targeting one area in isolation. These systems should also be designed for continuous improvement, with a clear connection between design features and improved student achievement.<sup>6</sup>

As we look beyond No Child Left Behind, our understanding of innovation at the state level will inform and shape the conversation around accountability systems moving forward.



## Background

When President Lyndon B. Johnson enacted the Elementary and Secondary Education Act, or ESEA, in 1965 as part of his War on Poverty program, resource accountability was at the heart of the law. Title I of ESEA provided additional funding for low-income students and created some checks to ensure that states and districts spent the federal funds appropriately. Since its initial passage, ESEA has been reauthorized seven times. The 1994 reauthorization—called the Improving America's Schools Act, or IASA—required states to develop content standards and assessments aligned to them. IASA also required that the standards apply to all students, as prior to IASA, states could have separate, less-challenging standards for low-income students.9

Enacted in 2001, No Child Left Behind is the most recent reauthorization of ESEA.<sup>10</sup> NCLB builds on the standards and assessments work of IASA by requiring states to test their students regularly. Critically, individual schools, districts, and states must publicly report test results, both in aggregate and for specific student subgroups. NCLB also went further than earlier laws by putting teeth into the federal requirements around standards and assessments: For the first time, the federal government required states and districts to monitor the achievement of all students and to take action in low-performing schools—or risk losing federal funding.<sup>11</sup>

However, although NCLB technically expired in 2007, Congress has yet to revise or reauthorize the act. 12 In response to this inaction, state leaders released a vision of next-generation accountability systems in CCSSO's report titled "Principles and Processes for Next-Generation Accountability Systems," outlining nine key components of an effective accountability system. These principles provide a framework for states to maintain the positive aspects of NCLB, while moving beyond the 2001 act to build and implement more thoughtful and nuanced systems of accountability that support the goal of ensuring all students are ready for college and careers.

Recognizing states' strong desire to advance past the limitations of NCLB, the Obama administration took advantage of an authority that exists in ESEA that allows states to apply for waivers from some of the more restrictive requirements of NCLB. States received flexibility in a number of areas, including studentachievement goals, interventions and supports for struggling schools, and highly qualified teacher provisions. In exchange for ESEA flexibility, states submitted proposals for improvements in three key areas:

- Adoption and implementation of college- and career-readiness standards and assessments that measure student achievement and growth
- Development and implementation of a differentiated accountability system that both recognizes high-achieving, high-growth schools and supports chronically low-achieving schools based on assessments and graduation rates
- Efforts to improve teacher quality by implementing teacher and principal evaluation based on multiple measures of effectiveness and support systems

Since February 2012, 43 states and the District of Columbia have received ESEA waivers and started implementing their alternative accountability plans.<sup>14</sup>

# Measuring progress toward college and career readiness

Assessment results and graduation rates remain at the core of current accountability systems. However, as described below, many states are moving to more sophisticated assessments that are better aligned to college- and career-readiness expectations, while also developing and using other measures of student and school success. States are using assessment results in more sophisticated ways and are defining completion in ways that go beyond cohort graduation rates.

#### Use of assessments aligned to college and career readiness

In response to concerns that existing assessment systems were not aligned with the knowledge and skills needed for students to be successful in college and careers, and that, at best, the systems were incomplete indicators of student performance, states began developing new assessments that better measure student performance based on more rigorous standards.

In this vein, many states joined one of two state-led testing consortia working to develop new assessments that are better aligned to college- and career-readiness standards in mathematics and English language arts. 15 States can choose between the Smarter Balanced Assessment Consortium or the Partnership for Assessment of Readiness for College and Careers, or PARCC. While the two consortia are developing tests that are similar in content and cost, Smarter Balanced is an adaptive assessment—a computer-based test that adapts to the student's ability level. 16 The assessments being developed by these two consortia aim to move beyond traditional multiple-choice tests by using performance tasks to assess students' critical thinking, problem solving, and writing skills. Because these assessments rely on more open-ended questions, such as writing prompts or complex math problems, students will be better able to demonstrate their knowledge. These tests will give students, parents, and teachers more detailed information about their students' knowledge and skills.

Many of the states choosing not to participate in one of these consortia efforts are still moving toward assessments that are more aligned to college- and careerreadiness expectations, such as Virginia's Standards of Learning. <sup>17</sup> For all states transitioning to new assessments, the data from these tests will become part of the states' accountability systems.<sup>18</sup>

#### Use of performance-based assessments

Some states are also seeking to incorporate locally developed annual student performance assessments into their accountability systems. Within these systems, states will still administer standardized assessments to serve as validating measures for locally chosen assessments of student outcomes; the state tests serve the purpose of ensuring that the local measures set a rigorous bar for student achievement.

Systemic use of performance assessments is relatively new, and many of these assessments are still being developed. Their development and validation are more resource intensive than standardized assessments, but a number of states feel that such investments are worthwhile if they can provide a more complete picture of students as learners and can increase educators' assessment and data literacy in the process. 19

New Hampshire is currently in the process of developing a pilot accountability system for districts in which they can propose a locally designed Performance Assessment of Competency Education, or PACE, system to the state. PACE pilots will have to provide measurable student outcomes aligned with district goals and state priorities, including state-adopted standards and competencies. The assessment and accountability system proposed by the districts would be required to include annual determinations of student achievement and growth through locally designed and state-validated systems of performance assessments or college-readiness assessments.<sup>20</sup>

The new system would also require external validation of the performance assessments through the new Smarter Balanced statewide summative assessments in grades 4, 8, and 11. New Hampshire is supporting its districts' development of PACE models by concurrently developing common statewide performance tasks and necessary processes, tools, and protocols for validating high-quality local performance tasks aligned with state standards. The state is also organizing professional development institutes and regional support

networks, as well as developing a district peer-review and auditing process. New Hampshire will begin a minipilot of this system in a very small number of school districts during the 2014–15 school year.<sup>21</sup>

Similarly, high school diplomas in Maine are awarded based on demonstrations of proficiency in the Maine Learning Results academic standards and Guiding Principles, which describe a vision for what every Maine high school graduate should be able to do.<sup>22</sup> The awarding of high school diplomas must take into account "in addition to any local course work and accumulation of credits, a broad spectrum of learning experiences that may include internships, portfolios, longterm capstone projects" and other "appropriate learning experiences that provide opportunities to demonstrate proficiency."23

New Hampshire and Maine, along with several other states, are involved in CCSSO's Innovation Lab Network—an effort to build a shared performance assessment bank and use local performance assessments as part of statewide accountability systems.<sup>24</sup>

#### Use of new indicators of college and career readiness

Under NCLB, states were required to measure progress based on assessment scores that determined the percentage of students meeting the state's definition of proficiency. Recognizing the limitations of this method, states have designed more sophisticated approaches to defining student progress in state assessments. One major change is that states have moved to adding growth measures of student progress—as opposed to relying solely on absolute proficiency levels—in order to provide a more accurate portrait of the amount of progress made by schools and districts.<sup>25</sup>

States are also incorporating new measures of academic performance to measure school and district success in order to determine a rating or grading system for schools. While all states continue to use four-year cohort graduation rates in their accountability systems, many states are now also incorporating measures of college and career readiness such as SAT or ACT performance, or actual measures of post-graduation success such as enrollment in college or college-completion rates. Other states are including graduation portfolios that require high school students to demonstrate they have attained the skills and knowledge necessary for graduation.

While states are moving forward with new measures of college and career readiness, they are also focused on closing achievement gaps in these outcomes. States with ESEA waivers are required to publicly identify focus schools—those with the greatest achievement gaps—and support those schools to improve student achievement and narrow the gaps.<sup>26</sup> In developing their annual goals and rating systems for school and districts, some states have put additional emphasis on closing their achievement gaps or prioritizing the achievement of key subgroups.

Illinois, for example, includes results from English language proficiency exams in its new accountability system, thereby increasing school accountability for the performance of English learners.<sup>27</sup>

In New Mexico, each school receives a grade, A through F, based on an index that includes student achievement and growth, graduation rate, attendance, and college- and career-readiness indicators, including opportunities for high school students to access college-level coursework through Advanced Placement, or AP, courses. The state places extra focus on the growth of the lowest-performing students by giving schools twice as much credit for the growth of the bottom achievement quartile than for growth of the school overall.<sup>28</sup>

Oregon redesigned its new accountability system for schools and districts to emphasize growth over absolute achievement. Aligned to Oregon's Achievement Compacts—annual partnership agreements between the state and each school district that define key measures of student success and sets targets for achievement—the Oregon accountability system incorporates multiple measures. These include academic achievement, academic growth, subgroup growth, and—for high schools—graduation rates and subgroup graduation rates.<sup>29</sup>

In Georgia, college readiness is measured and included in their school rating system known as the College and Career Ready Performance Index, or CCRPI. One college readiness indicator measures the percentage of high school graduates entering a twoor four-year college who do not require remediation or learning support courses. Another measures student performance on the ACT, SAT, AP, or International Baccalaureate, or IB, assessments. College readiness is also measured by the percent of graduates earning course credit in dual enrollment, AP, or IB courses.<sup>30</sup>

Louisiana's graduation index varies the points awarded to schools based on the rigor of the work completed by students. A high school diploma completed in four years earns the school 100 points; a GED only earns the school 25 points, while a fifth-year high school graduate earns the school 75 points. On the more rigorous end, a school will earn 150 points if a student scores high marks on a college-level assessment such as an AP exam.31

New Jersey uses several factors beyond graduation rates in determining collegeand career-readiness. As part of each school's accountability rating, the state factors in the remediation rates for students enrolled in New Jersey's postsecondary institutions, as well as the rates of students enrolled in postsecondary education within 6 months and 18 months of graduation. The state includes additional indicators of college- and career-readiness, including participation and performance on the SAT and AP exams and the percent of students who pass an industry certification exam.32

New Jersey will also use individual student data as part of an early warning system to help educators identify struggling students who are not on track for college and career readiness as early on as possible. The state will track a variety of research-based indicators, including attendance, growth, and credit accumulation, to determine when students get off track—and then help them get back on track. New Jersey is combining data from the National Student Clearinghouse with longitudinal data from the state's student-level data system to build a profile of a typical 2011 high school graduate enrolled in postsecondary education within four months of graduating high school. The profile includes state assessment scores, SAT scores, AP scores, and 12th-grade attendance data. In 2015, New Jersey will be able to create a profile of high school students who successfully completed postsecondary education. High schools can use these profiles to set their own specific goals for proficiency levels in all tested grade levels, SAT scores, and attendance trends.33

Minnesota uses a multiple-measure rating in their accountability system for schools, which places closing the achievement gap by cutting the disparity between current proficiency rates and 100 percent within six years at the center of the measure. A significant component of the rating is the achievement gap between the growth of a specific student group—which can include low-income students, students of color, English language learners, and students with disabilities—and that of higher-performing groups statewide.<sup>34</sup>

As part of its accountability reporting system, North Carolina reports on the implementation of a statewide high school graduation project. While this is no longer a graduation requirement as of 2009, many districts continue to require their students to complete a high school graduation project, and school report cards note whether or not a high school participates. The North Carolina graduation project consists of four components: a research paper, a product, a portfolio, and an oral presentation in a student's final year of high school. This project provides students the opportunity to connect content knowledge, acquired skills, and work habits to real world situations and issues.<sup>35</sup>

In Rhode Island, a high school diploma is contingent upon successful completion of at least two performance-based diploma assessments decided by the district. These assessments may include graduation portfolios, exhibitions, comprehensive course assessments—50 percent of which must be performance-based and include evaluation of knowledge application—or a certificate of initial mastery. Districts are charged with developing the performance-based diploma assessments, which must include demonstrations of both core content proficiency and applied learning skills such as critical thinking, problem solving, and research.<sup>36</sup> A panel evaluates the student's performance using a state-approved rubric.<sup>37</sup>

In 2011, Wisconsin replaced the Adequate Yearly Progress system with a multiplemeasure accountability index comprising student achievement, student growth, closing achievement gaps, and an indicator of being on track for graduation and postsecondary readiness as measured by graduation rates, attendance rates, and ACT participation and performance, as applicable.<sup>38</sup>

# Diagnosing and responding to challenges via school-based quality improvement

NCLB required districts to create school-improvement plans based on data from schools that did not make adequate yearly progress for two subsequent years. There is a growing effort in many districts and schools to focus on school-quality improvement processes that go beyond test scores and look at other quantitative and qualitative data to diagnose problems and develop improvement strategies. By providing a holistic assessment of a school's strengths and weaknesses, a school-quality improvement process plays a key role in a comprehensive accountability system.

A school-quality improvement process may include the following elements: an inspection team with educational expertise in school practice and diagnostic inquiry, a peer review to provide multiple perspectives, and robust quantitative and qualitative data analysis.<sup>39</sup> This sort of human-capital-intensive approach can be costly. As a result, some districts and schools can only provide it on a cyclical basis or have to limit its use to schools with low performance. Below are some examples of new approaches to school-quality improvement.

#### Use of an inspectorate model

An inspectorate model uses a team of educational experts to review a school's data and practices in order to improve performance. The inspection team often spends several days observing teachers in the classroom, watching principals interact with staff, and analyzing quantitative and qualitative data. At the end of their inspection, the team produces an individualized and comprehensive evaluation of the school's strengths and weaknesses and provides suggestions for how it can improve. While other countries, such as England, use regular inspections as a fundamental part of their accountability system, <sup>40</sup> states in the United States often use this strategy only after a school has been deemed poor performing. But inspections can also be used as a proactive school-improvement strategy. Most

schools are already subject to an accreditation process, which often resembles an inspection. Reforming the process might offer a cost-effective mechanism for implementing school-quality reviews or inspectorates across the country.

Kentucky uses a robust process of diagnostic review for schools that are struggling the most. While all schools and districts must complete a comprehensive improvement plan, these schools work collaboratively with parents, students, and community members to complete a more robust needs assessment. Using an online platform to collect qualitative and quantitative data about the school, the data are synthesized into causes and contributing factors, translated into needs, and then prioritized. Goals, objectives, strategies, and activities are developed to address the priority needs. In addition to district resources and supports, the state provides cross-functional teams with representation from all areas of the state education agency to review the submissions from all school districts and assess weaknesses that could become obstacles to successful completion of the plans. The teams assess levels of implementation and recommend appropriate and targeted interventions specifically designed to address the identified concerns.<sup>41</sup>

In addition to their diagnostic review for the lowest-performing schools, Kentucky also established a program-review system to assess the quality of programs in arts and humanities, writing, and practical living and career studies. 42 Program reviews are conducted internally at the school level three times a year by staff, parents, students, and relevant community members. An annual external review at the district level is then conducted at the end of each school year, whereby district review teams are able to request and review internal reports prepared by schools throughout the year.<sup>43</sup>

Missouri has a strong school accreditation process that is entirely aligned with the state's accountability system. For all schools, this includes measures of academic achievement and growth, subgroup achievement, college and career readiness, attendance, and graduation. Based on the scores in each of these areas, schools are either accredited with distinction, accredited, provisionally accredited, or unaccredited. Missouri Department of Education staff members, teachers or principals from local school districts, or representatives from higher education institutions conduct onsite reviews of schools that are provisionally accredited or unaccredited.<sup>44</sup> After the state finishes its review, it uses the rating to determine individualized supports and, if necessary, interventions at the school and district level.  $^{45}$  The lower the rating, the more prescriptive the intervention. At all levels, the state uses the quantitative and qualitative data gained from the review to help target its supports.

Ohio conducts School Improvement Diagnostic Reviews, or SIDRs, for schools identified as underperforming based on testing data. To conduct the SIDRs, an external team of experienced and skilled reviewers follow a standard protocol for collecting evidence in order to diagnose a school's strengths and weaknesses. SIDR teams are responsible for making prioritized recommendations that are presented to the school several weeks later in a diagnostic report.<sup>46</sup>

Rhode Island uses an in-depth diagnostic screening process for schools that analyzes student performance overall and by subgroup, school culture and climate data, educator-evaluation outcomes, and an analysis of district spending. This screening then guides the selection of an intervention model and creates specific areas in which districts are held accountable for improving school performance. District leadership will oversee this process through quarterly performance reviews with the Rhode Island Department of Education.<sup>47</sup>

Modeled on the school inspection process in Great Britain and Hong Kong, New York City public schools developed a quality-review system as part of its Children First reform program, which paired greater autonomy with greater accountability for schools. Quality reviews involve two- or three-day school visits by experienced educators to each New York City public school. 48 While external evaluators were initially responsible for all quality reviews, New York City changed the process in 2010 to allow support networks to have a greater role in conducting reviews for new and high-performing schools.<sup>49</sup> Schools in New York City choose their own network: Some are run by district personnel and others by nonprofit organizations that provide support in a range of areas, from managing school budgets to analyzing student data to providing professional development.

For under-performing schools, an external evaluator visits classrooms, speaks with school leaders, and uses a rubric to evaluate how well the school is organized to support student achievement. A quality-review rating is then given to each school, along with a report that is published on the state's website. This is one of four options permitted by the state to support underperforming schools. Other stateapproved options include a curriculum audit, assignment of a joint-intervention team, or use of a distinguished educator.<sup>50</sup>

#### Use of peer educators

Inspection teams and peer educators look similar from the outside: groups of education experts observing classrooms, interviewing the principal, or analyzing school data. But while inspectors are often employed by the state or district to evaluate schools full time, peer educators are often teachers who are still in the classroom. As a result, peer educators are likely to be closer to the day-today work of teachers and may have a different perspective from a state team.<sup>51</sup> The experience of observing and evaluating schools also serves as a professional development opportunity for peer educators. In a profession sometimes stymied by closed classroom doors, peer educators actually open doors between schools to develop a broader learning community. States are using peer educators in different ways, a few of which are described below.

As noted above, New Hampshire is working to implement a locally designed performance assessment system. In order to ensure that those assessments meet key technical requirements established by the state, New Hampshire plans to use a district peer-review audit process. Peer-review teams of external practitioners will review evidence that the district submits and will also collect additional data and provide feedback according to common criteria during site visits to the district. According to current designs, the peer-review process will be used solely to provide formative feedback about these performance assessments to districts during the first two years. By the third year, the audits will become integral to the approval process for districts seeking to implement a PACE model for accountability purposes. Over time, the state hopes to increase the number of participating districts.<sup>52</sup>

New York state uses a program of distinguished educators to support low-performing schools and districts. The commissioner of education appoints highly effective educators to assist schools and districts whose prior intervention efforts have failed. Whether in a district or school, these educators conduct a holistic intensive review from the physical structure and daily operations to high-level teaching and meaningful learning. They analyze all available data and develop an action plan based on their findings.<sup>53</sup>

#### Use of data to create a culture of continuous improvement

As described earlier, states are using measures beyond test scores and graduation rates in their accountability systems in order to provide a grade or rating for the school's performance. While that is important, some states are using the data as more than just a factor in an accountability formula; they are also reporting and analyzing the data to develop a more detailed and nuanced picture of school performance for principals and teachers, as well as parents and students, in order to build a culture of continuous improvement. These measures might include: assessments of college- and career-readiness skills such as AP or IB tests; student participation such as postsecondary transition data; and school climate data such as student, parent, and teacher surveys. Ideally, a school report card would incorporate many, if not all, of these measures. Some states are using these data in qualityreview efforts described above to drive continuous improvement, while others use it to inform decisions about how to intervene in low-performing schools.

Kentucky has one of the richest sets of measurements for school performance. The state divides the measures into three categories: next-generation learners, next-generation instruction and support, and next-generation professionals. Next-generation learners include overall achievement, achievement of a new subgroup of historically underserved students, student growth, college- and careerreadiness, and graduation rates. Next-generation instruction and support includes program reviews in arts and humanities, career studies, writing, K-3 reviews, and world language programs. Next-generation professionals include the percent of teachers and principals rated highly on the state's evaluation system. Kentucky is the only state to use teacher effectiveness as part of its evaluation of school and district performance.<sup>54</sup>

In an annual budget review process, New Mexico examines the rate at which students matriculate from third grade, register for ninth grade on-track for college and careers, and graduate from high school. If any student subgroups are significantly behind at these checkpoints, this triggers district intervention. 55

In its evaluations, Wisconsin includes a student-engagement indicator, which exists outside the state's accountability index, but moderates a school's or district's accountability score by deducting points if designated goal thresholds are not met. Those goals include test participation, absenteeism, and dropout rates.<sup>56</sup>

#### School functioning and climate data

States and districts are also working to understand students' and stakeholders' broader experience with school, including school safety and parent engagement. School climate data can be gathered from student, parent, and teacher surveys and can include social-emotional learning and supports and opportunity-to-learn indicators such as school discipline and attendance data.

While not currently employed statewide, the California Office to Reform Education, or CORE, ESEA flexibility waiver includes the School Quality Improvement System for accountability that contains a School Quality Improvement Index as its key feature. The School Quality Improvement Index comprises weighted measures within three domains. The first domain equals 60 percent of the index and includes academic measures such as achievement and growth data, graduation rates, and persistence rates in grades 8 through 10. The second domain equals 20 percent of the index and includes social and emotional measures such as suspension and expulsion data, chronic absenteeism, and noncognitive skills. The third domain equals 20 percent of the index and measures school and district climate and culture by gauging the perceptions of students, staff, and parents; special education identification; and English learner entry and exit status.<sup>57</sup>

According to New Mexico's ESEA flexibility waiver, school ratings include an Opportunity to Learn measure. Half of this measure is comprised of a classroom survey that asks students whether the school fosters an environment that facilitates learning, while the other half is based off of attendance records for all students. The state also offers bonus points to schools for strong student and parent engagement in areas such as sports, fine arts, leadership for students, and mentoring and tutoring for parents.<sup>58</sup>

Oklahoma's accountability system uses parent and community engagement and school culture indicators as part of its school rating system. Schools can earn bonus points for high scores on a school climate survey, as well as high parent and community volunteer hours.<sup>59</sup>

# Developing state systems of support and intervention

Intervention in the lowest-performing schools is an area of renewed focus for states. The track record for most school-turnaround efforts is uneven at best, so states are creating innovative ways to review and support all schools—struggling or not. The most common strategies include school support teams, pairing high-growth schools with low-performing schools, networks of low-performing schools, engaging external providers, and recovery school districts. While most states focus on low-performing schools, some states are also building district capacity for school improvement and then holding districts accountable for their schools' results.

#### Use of school support teams

In order to support low-performing schools, some states deploy teams of education experts to analyze the school's data, evaluate their instructional practices, and devise an action plan to improve the school.

As part of its new accountability system, California has created the California Collaborative for Educational Excellence, or CCEE. The CCEE is designed to mobilize expertise in the state in order to help districts improve the quality of teaching and school leadership and meet the needs of special populations such as English language learners, special education students, and students at risk of dropping out. It will offer particularly intense assistance to districts or schools that are struggling to meet the goals established in the Local Control Accountability Program, but its services will be available to schools and districts upon request. The CCEE will sponsor a system of review by expert educators and peers to help build a learning system within the state in order to stimulate the transfer of knowledge and best practices, while also encouraging innovation, experimentation, evaluation, and adaptation. The CCEE is designed to strengthen the state's capacity to assist schools and districts that need help but also to validate and share information about effectiveness across practices.<sup>60</sup>

Massachusetts requires superintendents with priority schools in their district to develop a redesign plan to assess district-level capacity to support priority schools, provide an intervention plan for each school, and set measurable annual goals to reach before exiting priority status. The District and School Assistance Centers' teams work with low-performing districts and schools to provide a range of planning and instructional supports to help them successfully implement their plans. Their services include: 61

- District-level strategic planning
- Supporting school leaders in implementing major policy initiatives such as the new educator evaluation system
- Assisting districts in developing effective standards-based curricula
- Coaching principals and lead teachers on understanding and using student growth data

The District and School Transformation division in North Carolina supports the lowest-performing 5 percent of schools and 10 percent of districts. The state team conducts a comprehensive needs assessment of the school, works with the principal to develop a plan, and provides a school transformation coach to work with the school staff to implement the plan. North Carolina also has a system of three interlocking state and regional roundtables of expert educators that monitor current initiatives underway in districts, identify common needs, coordinate technical assistance, and target resources to the greatest needs.<sup>62</sup>

#### Pairing high-growth schools with low-performing schools

Drawing on international examples such as Shanghai's strategy of pairing successful schools with low-performing ones, some states match their low-performing schools with high-performing or high-growth schools.<sup>63</sup> Under the same rationale as peer educators, lower-performing schools may learn best from other schools especially those with similar demographics that have achieved high growth.

While some states use school-partnership strategies as part of a larger accountability process, the California Office to Reform Education districts' waiver is unique because it describes school partnerships as the bedrock of their intervention strategy. CORE districts will share their data with an agreed-upon third party such as the John W. Gardner Center for Youth and Their Communities at Stanford University. The third party will identify struggling schools and match them with a demographically similar high-performing school—a CORE "School of Distinction"—as an ongoing partner for improvement. Low-performing schools will use their school-quality review process to focus their work with the School of Distinction coaching team and target areas for reform and intervention.<sup>64</sup>

In Massachusetts, the state department of education designates schools that are high achieving, high growth, and have narrowed proficiency gaps as Commendation schools. Since 2012, as many as 5 percent of schools statewide fall into the Commendation school category. These Commendation schools may serve as demonstration sites, and depending on funding availability, they may be eligible for promising practice grants to encourage their involvement in networking activities. Commendation schools will also have the opportunity to partner with lower-performing schools that share similar demographic and performance profiles to share best practices.<sup>65</sup>

Tennessee identifies the highest performing 5 percent of schools and the most improved 5 percent and will create a competitive grant program for these schools to share best practices. The state will ask these Reward schools to serve as ambassadors to other schools by analyzing and sharing their best practices with neighboring schools, hosting visiting staff or conducting school visits to other schools, and creating mentorship opportunities between their staff and neighboring schools' staff.66

#### Creation of a network of low-performing schools

By developing networks of low-performing schools, teachers and leaders can brainstorm solutions to common problems and share resources. Through these networks, states can also target technical assistance and additional resources to these schools.

Colorado recently issued a request for proposals to districts with turnaround schools, inviting them to participate in a turnaround network. Members of the network agree to a consistent and robust planning and goal-setting process; common performance measures and monitoring; cross school and district learning facilitated by the state education department; flexibilities aligned to their improvement strategies; and alignment of all available resources around the turnaround strategy. The state has several districts that are interested and expects the network to be in place within the next couple months.<sup>67</sup>

Connecticut's commissioner of education created the Commissioner's Network, which includes 25 of the state's lowest-performing schools. The commissioner selects schools for inclusion in the network and partners with local stakeholders to turn the school around. The network provides schools with additional resources, as well as a platform to share and learn effective practices from other schools in the network.<sup>68</sup>

Delaware created a network for their priority schools, which will receive technical assistance, additional funding, and targeted interventions. In exchange for these resources, districts also renegotiate collective-bargaining agreements in order to provide more operating flexibilities to participating schools. The expectation is that the added autonomy, along with the special state supports, will lead to a better environment for academic growth.<sup>69</sup>

#### Engagement with external providers and technology

While many states have engaged external providers in turnaround work, a number of states such as Virginia have made it easier for districts to work with third-party organizations with turnaround expertise. Illinois vets lead partners for school turnaround, and districts must select a lead partner in order to be eligible for turnaround funds. Indiana conducts a similar pre-approval process, and the state uses external partners when intervening directly in schools.<sup>70</sup>

Other noteworthy examples include New Jersey's Regional Achievement Centers, or RACs, which are state-level technical-assistance providers designed to provide capacity building at the school and district levels.<sup>71</sup> New Jersey has leveraged Title I money, requiring priority schools to use their funds to create certain coaching positions and implement the state's model curriculum and assessments. They are also funding the RACs with Title I dollars.

Florida is implementing an eight-step problem-solving model that is intended to help schools get at the causes of low performance and develop strategies for improvement. The state is in the process of developing an online school-improvement plan that will integrate all required plans for priority schools.<sup>72</sup>

#### Use of recovery school districts

Louisiana, Michigan, and Tennessee created recovery school districts, which are "separate entities focused on creating conditions to support aggressive turnaround in schools that have long resisted more incremental change efforts."73

In 2003, Louisiana was the first state to adopt this school-intervention model. Managed by the Louisiana State Board of Elementary and Secondary Education, the Recovery School District, or RSD, is a state agency that manages low-performing schools that gained control of most of the schools in New Orleans after Hurricane Katrina in 2005.<sup>74</sup> According to the 2003 legislation, which created the RSD, the state can take over failing schools—defined as any school that earns an F letter grade in a single year. 75 In other states, intervention in low-performing schools can mean tightly controlled guidance for school improvement, but the RSD takes its approach from the charter sector, which prioritizes choice for parents, autonomy for school leaders, and accountability for results. <sup>76</sup> While the RSD initially included traditional public schools, as of the start of the 2014–15 school year, the RSD will be the first all-charter school district.

Michigan's Education Achievement Authority, or EAA, has the ability to take over schools that have been in the bottom 5 percent for academic achievement for at least three years in a row.<sup>77</sup> Similar to Tennessee's example below, Michigan's EAA can manage the school itself or convert it into a charter school. The EAA currently has 12 direct-run schools and three charter schools. 78 EAA uses a student-centered, competency-based instruction model, which organizes students by instructional level rather than age and grade level.

Modeled after Louisiana's RSD, Tennessee created a statewide Achievement School District, or ASD, to intervene in the 35 lowest-performing schools in the state. The ASD employs two primary intervention strategies to dramatically increase student achievement: convert the school into a charter school or replace the district in directly managing daily operations of the school. When the ASD manages the schools, they focus on a few key levers of turnaround. First, the ASD hires key staff, such as principal and lead teachers, at least six months in advance and runs a robust induction program for them. They also provide school leaders with significant autonomy over personnel, budget, schedule, and program. All existing staff must reapply for a position with the ASD. The ASD maintains tight control over assessment, professional development, and performance management.

#### Building district capacity for school support

In addition to focusing improvement efforts on low-performing schools, some states are also building district capacity for school improvement and then holding districts accountable for their schools' results.

Recognizing that schools within respective districts are interdependent, and that achievement challenges are not isolated to a single campus within a district, Arkansas takes a coherent approach to working with districts to support struggling schools. Arkansas believes that some challenges are under the control of the school, while others may be influenced by district-level factors that are not easily mitigated within the school without district intervention and support. The Arkansas Department of Education therefore engages district leadership in diagnostic analysis of low-performing schools and needs assessment in partnership with school leadership. Where improvement efforts are successful, districts will have increased flexibility in their use of funds, as well as greater responsibility for achieving outcomes.<sup>79</sup>

Connecticut formed the Alliance District program, a unique and targeted investment in Connecticut's 30 lowest-performing districts. Alliance Districts are eligible for funding to support district strategies to dramatically increase student outcomes and close achievement gaps by pursuing bold and innovative reforms. Alliance Districts have their own tiered intervention and support plans leveraging increased Title I flexibility. The Alliance Districts work with the commissioner of education, who approves their plans and reviews district progress and performance relative to those plans and subsequent annual amendments, in the context of the district's overall strategy to improve academic achievement. The state Turnaround and Performance Offices also work to ensure that districts have the resources they need for successful interventions.<sup>80</sup>

Illinois has enhanced its current statewide system of support, or SSOS, to concentrate support and assistance at the district level to build district capacity to improve student outcomes in the state's lowest-performing schools. One of the foundational principles of SSOS is that the people working within the system focus on increasing the capacity of school districts to assume, with confidence, greater responsibility for the continuous improvement of instruction and student achievement within their schools. For districts that have priority schools, the Illinois State Board of Education will assign a district assistance team through the Illinois Center for School Improvement. The team will include a turnaround specialist; school coaches with

expertise in working with English language learners, low-income students, racial and ethnic minority students, or students with disabilities depending on the identified need; and content specialists whose skillsets align with the needs identified via a comprehensive audit. District assistance teams are required to utilize evidencebased strategies that support school turnaround. The Illinois Center for School Improvement will provide ongoing training and professional development for district assistance teams and ensure that school districts with the lowest-performing 5 percent of schools receive high-quality support and assistance.<sup>81</sup>

In Massachusetts, districts are "only as strong as their weakest school" and are therefore rated at the same level as their lowest-performing school.<sup>82</sup> The state sees district accountability and state assistance as closely linked. The highest-performing districts with successful schools across-the-board receive autonomy and flexibility from the state. All other districts receive more resources, support, and guidance from the state in accordance with their need.

Rather than requiring state-determined achievement goals for all districts, Oregon empowers districts to develop their own outcome goals that are targeted at driving student performance in a way that is most appropriate for each respective district. As part of its comprehensive accountability system, the state enters into annual partnership agreements with each of the 197 school districts to establish shared responsibility between the state and the district for setting ambitious goals aimed at ensuring that students are making the progress needed in all key outcomes to reach the state's performance goals. These partnership agreements, which Oregon calls Achievement Compacts, are intended to drive two-way accountability—state and district—in setting and achieving the goals. While districts are held accountable for results, they have flexibility and room for creativity in how to reach those goals. 83

In Tennessee, the state converted their Field Service Centers—regional offices focused on compliance and monitoring—to Centers of Regional Excellence, or CORE, which provide professional development and support to districts. Typically staffed with district leader from that region, CORE provides a range of services, from data analysis support to math education professional development. The initiative's aim is to eliminate the capacity gap between districts by ensuring a base level of capacity to all districts, especially small rural districts with limited staff. The CORE office is held accountable, and the state evaluates the CORE director and team based on their districts' academic performance. At the same time, districts are allowed to set their own progress targets. In exchange, the state then holds the district responsible for reaching their targets.<sup>84</sup>

#### Use of triggers and criteria for intervention

As described above, states are required to identify both focus and priority schools as targets for intervention under ESEA flexibility. The 10 percent of schools with the largest within-school achievement gaps or with the lowest overall achievement subgroups in the state must be identified as focus schools. The schools in the bottom 5 percent of performance in terms of overall student achievement or graduation rate must be identified as priority schools. The state must also identify any Title I high school with a graduation rate less than 60 percent as either a focus or priority school. States must also establish a system of accountability and intervention to serve the other 85 percent of schools.

The required criteria for identifying focus and priority schools are currently limited to test scores and graduation rates. But these restrictions have not prevented states from going beyond test scores and graduation rates in other areas such as informing school improvement efforts, teacher evaluation ratings, and new school grading systems, often on an A through F scale. As described above, most states have also widened their scope of data collection beyond assessment to measures of college- and career-readiness, school climate, and student engagement such as attendance or noncognitive skills. Some states are not only using these data to grade a school's performance but are also using them to develop early warning systems to identify struggling students and schools.

For example, in its ESEA flexibility waiver, the California Office to Reform Education outlines a process for directing resources such as formative tasks, remediation, and professional development for teachers toward students in any school that falls below trigger thresholds, including performance on the 10th grade California High School Exit Exam, regardless of whether they are a priority or focus school.85

In addition to identifying schools with the largest achievement gaps, Mississippi identifies schools where the lowest-performing 25 percent of students are at the bottom of the statewide achievement threshold. These schools will receive a stateappointed support specialist who visits at least twice per month and must conduct a comprehensive needs assessment.86

In its ESEA flexibility waiver, New Mexico includes Strategic Schools, a category of schools above the required priority and focus threshold, as an additional group of schools for support and intervention. It views these schools as at risk for falling into a lower status and requires locally determined interventions to address identified low performance among student groups.87

Tennessee has created both achievement-gap and gap-closure targets, making it impossible for a school or district to avoid identification for improvement unless it is making progress for all groups of students. If a single subgroup is not making progress on a majority of its measures, the district must implement an aggressive corrective plan.88

## Resource accountability

States are broadly engaged in efforts to focus attention on the use of resources. Some states have adopted new school finance policies to ensure that schools and districts serving high-need students receive the resources they need. For instance, a weighted student-funding model provides more dollars for programs to support students with greater needs such as students who are low income, English language learners, or in special education. In addition, some states are implementing mechanisms for holding districts or schools accountable for how they spend funds, including increasing transparency related to school spending.

#### Ensuring sufficient and fair funding

States use different methods to ensure equitable funding for all students—including additional resources for students with greater needs.

A number of years ago, Maine adopted a new Essential Programs and Services school-funding model that used school enrollment and demographic data to establish the amount of funding each district would need to ensure that all students, including high-need students, achieve the state's learning results standards. State funding for school districts flows through a formula that calculates a school district's ability to support its schools' essential programs as defined by the state formula, with the effect that greater state resources flow to the state's poorer communities.

While not implemented statewide, Baltimore City Public Schools recently implemented Fair Student Funding, a weighted student-funding system whereby each school receives its share of the total through a per-pupil formula that allocates a base level of funding for each student and supplements this with weights for students in particular categories and circumstances. 89 Baltimore's funding system allows principals to make key financial decisions for their schools. The results that principals are then expected to achieve are specific and transparent based on the categories used to justify funding requests.<sup>90</sup>

California recently adopted the Local Control Funding Formula, or LCFF, which provides a base grant for each district equivalent to \$7,643 per student based on average daily attendance, with an extra 20 percent boost for each disadvantaged student and additional funding for those who attend schools where at least 55 percent of students are low income, English language learners, or in foster care. Districts must spend these additional funds on services for targeted students. Along with additional funds, California districts are required to develop, adopt, and annually update a three-year local control and accountability plan that includes identifying goals and measuring progress for student subgroups across multiple performance indicators. County superintendents review these plans to ensure alignment between projected spending, services, and goals.<sup>91</sup>

In New Jersey, the Abbott school equity and finance court decisions, starting with the state Supreme Court landmark ruling in 1985, remain central to how the state funds its urban and suburban schools. This series of rulings required schools in the 31 poorest communities—often called the Abbott districts—to receive additional funding to ensure those high-need students were provided a "thorough and efficient" system of education, as guaranteed by the state constitution. 92 For those districts, the Abbott decisions led to universal preschool, a substantial school construction and renovation program, and additional programs and funding. 93 As a result, New Jersey now uses an adequacy model to calculate the necessary state aid to school districts. The School Funding Reform Act, or SFRA—the current legislation behind the funding formula—assigns every school district an adequacy budget, or the amount a district needs to educate each student. The budget takes into account the district's number of low-income, special-education, and Englishlearner students. The formula then calculates the district's "fair share," which is the amount a district can contribute to their adequacy budget through local property taxes. The fair share is then subtracted from the adequacy budget, resulting in the final state equalization aid.94

As part of a slate of reforms to transfer more autonomy to schools and principals, New York City public schools are transitioning to a weighted student-funding system. The largest funding stream in New York City's school budget are Fair Student Funding dollars, which are used by schools to cover basic instructional needs and are allocated to each school based on the number of students enrolled at that school and their level of need.95 New York uses 26 different student-need categories, including English language learners, special education, and low-income students. 96 Principals have complete control over all money allocated to schools through Fair Student Funding.

Former Ohio Gov. Ted Strickland (D) proposed the Ohio Evidence-Based Model, or OEBM, which connected a reform plan anchored in research-based programs that result in academic success with the appropriate funding to run them. For example, OEBM funded universal, full-day kindergarten at the same level as other grades. Recognizing the central importance of teachers and the challenge that low-income districts face in recruiting high-quality teachers, OEBM also provided additional funding for teacher compensation using the Ohio Instructional Quality Index, which factored in the wealth of a community, the poverty of students residing in the district, and the educational attainment of the adult population within the district. Because research has shown that small class sizes are beneficial in kindergarten through third grade, OEBM reduced class sizes for those grades. While this model is no longer in effect, we have included it in this study since it is one of few examples of resource accountability tied to the provision of specific services rather than specific dollars.97

### Encouraging financial efficiency

Some states are using incentives or accountability mechanisms to promote consideration of the impact and efficiency of funding decisions.

New Mexico requires schools to monitor the return on investment for interventions in underperforming schools and to shift strategies if they are not seeing results. The state conducts annual monitoring through the budgeting process and also works to identify and replicate interventions that are showing strong effectiveness. 98 New Mexico also created one of the first funding formulas weighted based on student needs in the country in 1974. This formula separated student funding from property tax values and allocated dollars based on a set of identified student needs, providing additional resources to high-need students such as English language learners and students with special needs.<sup>99</sup>

New York recently began offering district management efficiency grants—a program that, according to the grant language, "rewards school districts that have implemented innovative strategies to improve the overall efficiency of school district management, while maintaining or improving student achievement."100 Districts in the state can apply for the grant by creating a plan for cost savings in their districts. Twelve districts received the grants in 2013, after identifying more than \$9 million in cost savings.<sup>101</sup>

Since 2003, Virginia has been conducting district-level fiscal analysis in order to "realize cost savings in non-instructional areas in order to redirect those funds  $% \left( 1\right) =\left( 1\right) \left( 1\right)$ toward classroom activities." 102 Outside consultants conduct the analysis for the districts, and both the state and the district share the costs. Since the program began, more than 30 districts in Virginia have gone through the program with more than \$40 million in estimated savings.  $^{\rm 103}$ 

# Professional accountability for teachers and leaders

In the past two decades, research has shown that students who receive highquality teaching learn more. In fact, the effectiveness of a teacher is the single most powerful in-school variable for students. 104

States have responded to this research by focusing on teacher effectiveness. They are developing and implementing policies that set high expectations for teaching practice, provide support to help teachers reach those standards, and hold teachers accountable for meeting that high bar. From teacher preparation and licensure to teacher evaluation and tenure, there has been a sea change in policy as it relates to the education profession. For example, in December 2012, a taskforce of chief state school officers released a report titled "Our Responsibility, Our Promise,"105 outlining strategies for examining and transforming how we prepare teachers and principals so that they can provide instruction and organize learning environments to help students reach heightened expectations. Twenty-five states have agreed to advance the recommendations included in the report to improve teacher preparation. 106

Recognizing the need for effective school and district leadership, states are increasingly supporting principal and other school leader development as critical to school improvement.

## Approval and accreditation of teacher-preparation programs

States are focusing on teacher preparation as a key leverage point to raise teacher effectiveness—through raising the selectivity of the programs, encouraging robust clinical training, providing programs better data about their graduates, and ultimately using those data to improve programs.

Delaware is moving to create a more selective and rigorous teacher-preparation sector. Under a recent law, teacher candidates must now have a 3.0 GPA or pass an academic skills test to enter a teacher-preparation program. Before graduating from the program, candidates must pass a more challenging test of content knowledge and must demonstrate teaching effectiveness through a performance assessment. Delaware also underscored the importance of clinical training by requiring an ongoing residency that requires working with a cooperating teacher and a range of teaching experiences such as participating in parent-teacher conferences and teaching students while being observed.

Louisiana started aligning teacher preparation with the needs of K-12 schools in the mid-1990s. The state formed the Blue Ribbon Commission for Educational Excellence, a task force of 36 members—including state, business, university, K-12, and community leaders—that was charged with recommending improvements to university-based teacher-training programs in the state to help raise the quality of Louisiana's teacher workforce. In 2006, teacher-training institutions received the first report that linked graduates of their programs to student achievement. As data about teacher preparation emerged, programs were rated on a five-point scale, with one being the most effective and five the least effective. The Louisiana Board of Elementary and Secondary Education created a policy to require those teacher-preparation organizations with scores of four or five to enter what is termed "programmatic intervention," which required organizations to develop and implement plans to address the weaknesses in program content.<sup>107</sup>

Massachusetts overhauled their regulations for educator preparation in 2012 and approved new standards for teachers and administrators that mirror the standards for effective practice embedded in the educator evaluation rubric. The new program review process focuses more on output measures in the classroom, such as employer data and program-completer effectiveness. In addition, the state raised standards for entry into the profession by requiring a series of assessments of academic skills, subject matter, and performance assessment for teacher entry and licensing. To encourage teacher preparation graduates to teach in high-need fields, the state has provided tuition incentives for academically successful students in high-need fields to become teachers.

In early 2014, both New Mexico and Texas piloted a model to evaluate teacherpreparation programs designed by the National Council on Teacher Quality. Unlike national accreditation, this inspectorate process—operated by the Tribal Group from Britain—evaluates the quality of training. Inspectors look specifically at selectivity, content knowledge, and clinical practice. At the end of a four-day review, inspectors will present their findings to provide institutions and the states information on the effectiveness of programs so they can decide whether to continue approval to operate.

Rhode Island is also collecting data from teacher-evaluation systems and reporting the data back to the institutions where teachers were trained. It will be using these data to inform approval of teacher-preparation programs in the state.

In 2013, Tennessee provided feedback information to educator preparation providers that included value-added scores of individual program completers disaggregated by the types of students in each completer's classroom. This policy change allowed programs to assess the effectiveness of individual programs and licensure tracks within an institution of higher education or alternative prep program. In addition, the state provided training modules for pre-service teachers and faculty to understand the value-added system and reports.

### Raising the bar for teacher licensure

Some states are reimagining licensure as a meaningful signal of teacher effectiveness rather than as a measure of teaching experience and educational attainment.

In April, Georgia adopted a new, tiered licensure model that was phased in starting in July. 108 Before starting their student teaching, prospective teachers from a university or alternative certification program will earn a preservice certificate by passing a more rigorous content-knowledge exam and a subject-specific performance assessment, as well as a background check and ethics test. The induction certificate for new teachers will last three years, during which time the teacher must be rated proficient or exemplary on two out of three evaluations. The professional certificate is a five-year renewable license. To renew, a teacher must earn a proficient or exemplary rating on their evaluation for four out of five years. The expectation is that every teacher will earn a professional certificate.

There is also an advanced certificate with two pathways within that category. The first is the advanced professional pathway for highly effective master teachers who have earned an exemplary evaluation rating and have an advanced degree or are National Board-certified. The second is a lead professional pathway for teachers who have earned an exemplary evaluation rating and who wish to take on roles primarily working with adult learners such as mentoring, induction, and clinical faculty. 109

Massachusetts is creating a comprehensive system of supports and requirements for educator knowledge and skills, with high standards for entry implemented through a series of assessments of academic skills and subject matter for teacher entry and licensing. The state also implemented performance assessments for licensure for both teachers and administrators. At the same time, the state now requires induction programs offered by trained mentors for both beginning teachers and administrators to provide support. 110

#### Use of selection, retention, and tenure

Some states are placing teacher—and principal—effectiveness at the center of new policies that encourage highly effective professionals to stay in the classroom, teach in subject areas with a shortage of teachers, and lead in high-need schools.

In Colorado, tenure is a right that can be earned and unearned. Teachers must receive three consecutive years of positive evaluations to earn tenure, which guarantees them an appeals process before they can be fired. Teachers will lose tenure if they receive two ineffective ratings in a row. At the same time, safeguards such as an appeals process ensure that tenure is not removed capriciously.

Delaware has leveraged its evaluation system to retain effective teachers and principals through the Delaware Talent Cooperative, which provides retention awards to highly effective teachers and leaders willing to work and stay in highneed schools.111

The District of Columbia Public Schools system, or DCPS, has a Leadership Initiative for Teachers, or LIFT, a five-stage career-ladder system that increases opportunities and responsibilities for excellent teachers, as well as offering salary increases. Teachers progress up the LIFT ladder by earning effective or highly effective ratings, and DCPS raises the bar required to progress each step on the ladder. LIFT has four goals:

- 1. Retain top performers in the classroom
- 2. Reward experience by requiring a minimum of six years of experience before teachers can reach the top level of expert teacher
- 3. Broaden recognition for highly effective and effective teachers
- 4. Increase career stability because once a teacher reaches a particular stage, they will not revert to a previous one

Massachusetts provides tuition incentives to academically successful teacher candidates who maintain a 3.0 GPA in college and commit to teaching in a high-need field for two years in Massachusetts public schools. The state also offers a scholarship program for qualified high school students who are interested in teaching. The program provides four-year tuition and fees scholarships. 112

### Supporting teaching effectiveness through better professional development

As nearly every state is overhauling its evaluation systems, states—and some districts—are working to connect the information gleaned from evaluation to professional development in order to help improve teacher and principal effectiveness.

Delaware is developing a cohesive teacher pipeline. The state requires and funds multiyear new-teacher induction, makes program completion a requirement for licensure advancement, and requires three years of support for new teachers. The state also provides funding for mentors for beginning teachers<sup>113</sup> and principals. Delaware has also leveraged its evaluation system to inform teacher and principal preparation and development through the new Evaluation Report System database.<sup>114</sup>

Beyond supports for new teachers, the state Department of Education also maintains ongoing professional development opportunities for teachers through a set of approved professional development groups. These groups include subject-matter networks such as the Delaware Reading Project, Writing Project, and Science Coalition. Outside of subject-area expertise, Delaware also supports groups in response to intervention and positive behavior supports. Following the state's

Common Core State Standards adoption, it also launched an initiative led by a group of effective teachers across the state to develop materials and supports for job-embedded professional development around the new standards.

Teachers in Massachusetts create and maintain individual professional development plans as a requirement for license renewal. During the summer, the state offers free professional development around high standards, instructional practices, and rigorous curriculum.<sup>115</sup> Teachers are also encouraged and enabled to participate in professional development opportunities throughout the year. 116

North Carolina created an online module for teachers that guides educators through the evaluation process and provides detailed information on each of the evaluation standards and its indicators. The system automatically links educator evaluation with professional development by recommending customized professional development—both virtual and in-person—depending on observation and evaluation results. Teachers who receive ratings on specific standards that are below proficient must develop a professional-development plan that specifically addresses these areas. Principals will have access to an interface that allows them to track the professional development that their staff is pursuing.

As one of the few districts to focus on the role of principal supervisors, Denver Public Schools took steps to enhance the capacity of the central office to coach and support principals whose schools were underperforming in 2010.<sup>117</sup> The district regrouped 20 of its lowest-performing schools geographically into two clusters and appointed an instructional superintendent and a deputy instructional superintendent to supervise each cluster of schools. This effectively reduced the number of campuses and principals for which each supervisor was responsible to five, significantly lower than the typically assigned amount.

The district also developed the Denver School Leadership Framework, a shared definition of leadership practices that serve as the criteria for principal evaluation. 118 The framework comprises leadership expectations around culture, equity, instruction, and human resources. Additionally, there are expectations around strategic, organizational, and community leadership. Principals self-assess, set goals in these areas, and meet twice annually with their evaluators. During the mid-year meeting, principals and evaluators collaboratively agree on target areas and plan for professional growth. Each principal must have a professional growth

plan in which target areas and goals are identified and professional development plans are articulated. Additionally, principals are allowed to self-select into affinity groups of approximately 15 school leaders who have come together around a particular problem or practice.

DCPS developed an educator portal that provides individualized professional development for teachers based on the results of their IMPACT evaluation, DCPS' teacher evaluation system. DCPS also developed IMPACT for school leaders. In anticipation of that rollout, DCPS doubled the number of instructional superintendents in order to facilitate greater support for campus principals, including more observation and feedback, as well as opportunities for school clusters to meet more regularly for customized professional development. According to Hilary Darilek, the deputy chief of the DCPS Principal Effectiveness Team, "The goal was to move the superintendent role from a compliance-based position to one where the superintendent could observe and support principals and have a consistent and significant presence in schools."119

As a pilot district for a new teacher-leadership model, Charlotte-Mecklenburg Schools, or CMS, in North Carolina created a teacher-leader support structure to assist principals with instructional leadership activities. Public Impact, an education policy think tank in Chapel Hill, is working with CMS to implement an opportunity culture across a subset of schools. 120 In this model, highly effective teachers assume formal leadership roles such as instructional facilitator. Teacher leaders can assist the principal in the observation process and provide coaching feedback to teachers.

CMS has focused principal professional development on coaching strategies needed to implement their teacher evaluation system. CMS has added districtlevel professional development focused on coaching and how to have conversations with teachers about changing practices. For example, principals are trained on how to differentiate their coaching strategies with teachers based on whether performance problems are the result of a lack of skill or a lack of will. Teachers who have performance deficits but a strong work ethic and desire to improve require a different coaching approach than teachers who have the requisite instructional knowledge but lack the motivation to do the work.

# Challenges to implementing next-generation accountability

Based on our review of the landscape with respect to the movement of states and districts toward elements of what we have broadly called a next-generation accountability system, we have identified some barriers that states, districts, and schools must overcome. Federal, state, and local policymakers must work to support efforts to move beyond these challenges. Key challenges include transitioning to new assessments; developing, implementing, and validating richer measures of student and school success; implementing school-quality improvement systems; enforcing resource accountability; and strengthening the teaching profession.

#### Transitioning to new assessments

Students, parents, and teachers are understandably weary of the overemphasis on assessments—particularly low-quality assessments that can lead to drill and kill instruction methods. As states and districts move to implement more rigorous standards and assessments, there will inevitably be a rocky road during the transition period as curriculum, textbooks, and, most importantly, instruction are recalibrated to align with the new standards and assessments. There will likely be a drop in the number of students scoring on grade level as students, teachers, and systems adjust to the new standards. This can—and indeed has—led to political backlash against the new standards and the new assessments. Both CCSSO and the Center for American Progress have published recommendations for state and district leaders on how to convey the importance of the new standards and assessments and smooth the transition as they are merged into instruction.

In addition, innovation in assessment techniques, such as the efforts to develop performance-based assessments, can be expensive and may feel like more, not less, testing for students and parents. Ensuring that performance-based assessments are valid, reliable, and comparable across schools will also be challenging. Policymakers will need to invest in research and development efforts and support evaluations of their effectiveness.

#### Developing, implementing, and validating richer measures of student and school success

States are exploring new ways to assess learning outcomes for students and schools—assessments that go beyond the large-scale measures of achievement in math and English language arts used by states today. They are looking for ways to assess deeper learning outcomes through, for example, richer, performance-based assessments and tests of 21st century skills such as communication, collaboration, and higher-order thinking.

In this work, states face a host of barriers, not the least of which is that assessments of this type are still in development. Additionally, states, schools, and districts face the challenge of developing, implementing, and validating new assessments while also managing the implementation of the current suite of assessments required by state and federal law. As states begin relying on these new types of assessments, they will need to work with the U.S. Department of Education to have the flexibility to determine which assessments should be required as part of a state's comprehensive system and how to use these new measures for federal accountability purposes.

### Implementing school-quality improvement systems

School-quality review systems will require a corps of professionals—whether they are third-party experts or peer educators—who are trained and qualified to offer support to schools. This will require new training programs and more robust career pathways for highly effective teachers to be put in place.

### Enforcing resource accountability

Multiple barriers impede implementation of a strong resource accountability system. School finance is always an area fraught with peril for policymakers, and efforts to shift funding from one district or school to another invariably encounter rough political waters. Efforts to transform school financing systems through the adoption of weighted student-funding models, for example, must therefore be accompanied by a concurrent focus on transparency around school spending and increased accountability for results from the adults at the state, district, and school levels who actually spend the money.

Unfortunately, most data systems do not support a return on investment analysis to promote efficiency. Often, outcome data are not in the same system as spending data. Education accountability systems at the federal, state, and local level must ensure transparency, eliminate factors that mask disparities, such as the use of average teacher salaries district-wide instead of school-level salaries, and focus on using the funding in the most effective manner.

#### Strengthening the teaching profession

State policies around approving teacher-preparation programs lack rigor. As a result, there is a proliferation of poor quality teacher-preparation programs with low entry standards. Weak policies for licensure and tenure can also be barriers to ensuring that highly effective teachers enter and remain in the profession. State and district policies will need to change to allow for advancement opportunities for teachers.

Schools are not typically structured to support on-site, embedded professional development, and as a result, teachers often do not have sufficient time to engage in professional development, collaborate around instruction, or prepare for their classes. This will require rethinking school schedules, including the length of school days and years. States and districts also will need to dedicate resources to developing a corps of principals and teacher leaders to model good instruction and help with reviews of teacher practice.



# System coherence

As described in this paper, many states have incorporated various aspects of the five broad categories of current movement in accountability reform: measuring progress toward college and career readiness; diagnosing and responding to challenges through school-based quality improvement; state systems of support and intervention; resource accountability; and professional accountability for teachers and leaders. Importantly, to ensure that these reforms actually lead to improved outcomes for students without creating unintended consequences or adverse incentives, states should implement accountability reforms with attention to how various aspects of the system work together to improve student outcomes.

The following descriptions provide examples of how states can tie together multiple components simultaneously in an effort to achieve greater system coherence.

As part of Kentucky's accountability system, the state is using a rich and varied set of measures for school performance, including the percentage of teachers and principals rated highly on the state's evaluation system. The state's Unbridled Learning accountability model<sup>121</sup> combines multiple system components, including measures of next-generation learners, next-generation instructional programs and support, and next-generation professionals. Kentucky uses this weighted combined score for accountability classifications—including distinguished, proficient, needs improvement and reward, priority, focus, and progressing—and reporting.

Under the next-generation learners component, which makes up 70 percent of combined score, the state relies on multiple measures of student learning. These include student achievement level, growth, performance gaps between subgroups, college and career readiness via ACT scores, and graduation rate.

Through the next-generation instructional programs and support component which makes up 20 percent of the composite score—the state incorporates student performance in subjects other than English language arts and math through a multistep program review process. 122 Schools first self-assess evidence related to their curriculum, instruction, assessments, and teacher and leader development and monitoring. Districts then create a district improvement plan, leveraging the schools' self-reports, which they submit to the state for validation.

Lastly, under the next-generation professionals component—currently being piloted but eventually designed to count as 10 percent of the composite score the state will incorporate teacher and principal effectiveness ratings into its district and school performance determinations. The state will also implement a series of strategies to support districts and schools in reaching their effectiveness targets such as supporting their use of data to acquire, professionally develop, retain, and equitably distribute effective teachers and leaders. 123 Kentucky is the only state that uses teacher effectiveness as part of its evaluation of school and district performance.

Kentucky also developed multiple strategies to enhance district- and school-based accountability and targeted intervention. All schools and districts must develop a rigorous diagnostic review process, both for priority and focus schools, as well as specific programs. As part of this review process, schools must solicit and incorporate community input. In addition to district resources and supports, the state also provides a cross-functional team to review improvement plans and give feedback on them. In their ESEA waiver, the state also identified 17 percent of all schools as either highest performing or fastest improving.<sup>124</sup> In addition to recognition and rewards, those schools will have the opportunity to partner with lower-performing schools to share their best practices.

Beyond more conventional state supports, Kentucky also evaluates its state's needs and responds to them. For example, Kentucky is partnering with the University of Louisville to provide targeted professional development for teachers regarding the needs of English language learners. 125 The state is also offering literacy support to special education teachers.

Massachusetts has prioritized district and school support, as well as professional accountability. The state provides a diverse range of support services to priority and focus schools. State teams assist both low-performing schools and low-performing districts, helping the latter to create infrastructure, processes, and capacity to better support their schools. The teams also build capacity at a school level by coaching principals and lead teachers on topics such as understanding and using student growth data. 126 In addition to state teams, the state also highlights high-performing and high-growth schools and leverages their experience to improve low-performing schools. The state matches these Commendation schools with lower-performing schools that share similar demographic and performance profiles.

In terms of professional accountability, Massachusetts has overhauled its teacherpreparation program approval process to focus on graduate effectiveness in the classroom. In addition, the state raised standards for entry into the profession by requiring a series of assessments of academic skills, subject matter, and performance assessment for teacher entry and licensing. To encourage teacher preparation graduates to teach in high-need fields, the state provided tuition incentives for academically successful students in high-need fields to become teachers. Massachusetts also developed a robust system of evaluation and support within the classroom. Districts base tenure decisions in part on teacher effectiveness data, which is also publicly reported at the school level.<sup>127</sup>

New Hampshire is advancing multiple components of accountability reform that are aligned to the state's vision for engaging all students in meaningful learning opportunities that achieve college- and career-readiness outcomes. The state raised the bar for all students by defining college and career-readiness to encompass the knowledge, skills, and work-study competencies that students need for postsecondary and lifelong success. Aligned with this definition, the state's approved ESEA waiver<sup>128</sup> detailed an accountability system based on multiple measures of student progress, including student achievement, growth, achievement gaps, and graduation rates.

The state also implemented a system of statewide networks on technical assistance, knowledge, and innovation to support districts in diagnosing and responding to challenges and promoting continuous improvement based on these outcome indicators. Furthermore, to promote more meaningful measures of student learning, the state is implementing Smarter Balanced assessments

statewide and is also providing leading districts the opportunity to propose locally designed systems of performance-based assessments as part of the PACE pilots described earlier in this paper. 129 The state intends to incorporate these broader assessment data as part of its accountability determinations for schools, districts, and—through the already statewide use of student learning objectives that will be tied to student competencies—for both student promotion and educator effectiveness determinations.

Lastly, to mitigate the increased capacity demands on both the state and its districts, the state is leading efforts designed to ensure high-quality implementation, including professional development institutes, regional scoring sessions, practitioner assessment experts, and a required peer-review process for auditing and adjusting system performance. Meanwhile, the state will not back away from rigorous interventions for low-performing schools and will continue to identify and provide support to priority and focus schools and districts as described in its ESEA waiver.

# Conclusion

States are actively creating and implementing new ways to advance accountability systems that provide the resources necessary for system improvement while holding all stakeholders accountable for student success. Patterns across state accountability reforms can be categorized into five broad areas of movement:

- Measuring progress toward college and career readiness through multiple measures and more robust systems of assessment
- Measuring and supporting school-based quality improvement
- Rethinking state systems of support and intervention for struggling schools
- Promoting resource accountability
- Promoting professional accountability of teachers and leaders

While innovation in one or two of the above categories represents a desire to move beyond status quo, states should take care that their reforms do not create unintended consequences or adverse incentives for various stakeholders in the system. Rather, states should ensure that accountability reforms affect student outcomes in a positive direction by designing their system for coherence and continuous improvement in a way that does not mask gaps in progress by individual groups of students. States can achieve this by creating a theory of action that articulates how the goals of the accountability system drive key design decisions and which supports and interventions will be given at various system levels to provide capacity along the way. 130

#### Methodology

In developing this overview of state action on accountability, we reviewed the work that states—and in some cases districts—are already doing to move their accountability systems forward. This report provides an overview of the landscape, but it is not fully inclusive of the variety of state approaches to accountability.

We did not detail the new grading systems in place or their treatment of subgroup performance, but we plan to do so in a separate paper. We focused primarily on states that received ESEA flexibility waivers, but we did not limit our sample to waiver states and included some district-level examples where state examples did not exist. We reviewed state flexibility plans to write this report, but we also relied on our own knowledge of work in the field.

This paper is the first in a series of work from the Center for American Progress on accountability. The Center for American Progress and the Council of Chief State School Officers partnered on this project in order to bring greater transparency and recognition to the innovative work being done at the state level.

#### Acknowledgements

We wish to thank The Eli and Edythe Broad Foundation and The William and Flora Hewlett Foundation for their sponsorship of this publication as well as their ongoing support of our education programs. The thoughts and opinions presented in this report are those of the Center for American Progress and the Council of Chief State School Officers alone, and do not necessarily represent the opinions of the foundations.

We also wish to express our gratitude to Sarah Rosenberg for providing much of the research and writing for the report, as well as shepherding the report through its many iterations. We would also like to thank the many others at the Center for American Progress and the Council of Chief State School Officers who provided a great deal of research assistance and generous feedback.

#### Endnotes

- 1 Jeremy Ayers and others, "A Way Forward: A Progressive Vision for Reauthorizing the Elementary and Secondary Education Act" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2011), available at http://www.americanprogress. org/issues/education/report/2011/06/14/9847/a-wayforward/.
- 2 Sam Dillon, "Experts Say a Rewrite of Nation's Main Education Law Will Be Hard This Year," The New York Times, January 28, 2010, available at http://www.nytimes. com/2010/01/29/education/29child.html?module=Sea rch&mabReward=relbias%3Aw%2C%7B%221%22%3A %22RI%3A5%22%7D&\_r=0.
- 3 Council of Chief State School Officers, "Principles and Processes for State Leadership on Next-Generation Accountability Systems," available at http://www.ccsso. org/Resources/Publications/Principles\_and\_Processes\_ for\_State\_Leadership\_on\_Next-Generation\_Accountability\_Systems.html (last accessed August 2014).
- 4 Ibid.
- 5 U.S. Department of Education, "Bringing Flexibility & Focus to Education Law: Supporting State and Local Progress," available at http://www.ed.gov/sites/default/ files/supporting-state-local-progress.pdf (last accessed
- 6 Council of Chief State School Officers, "Recommendations from the CCSSO Accountability Advisory Committee" (2014), available at http://www.ccsso.org/ Documents/CCSSO-Accountaiblity%20Advisory%20 Committee%20Final%20for%20Website.pdf.
- 7 Janet Y. Thomas and Kevin P. Brady, "Chapter 3: The Elementary and Secondary Act at 40: Equity, Accountability, and the Evolving Federal Role in Public Education," Review of Research in Education 29 (51) (2005): 51-67.
- 8 U.S. Senate Committee on Health, Education, Labor, & Pensions, "Harkin Statement at the HELP Committee Hearing, 'No Child Left Behind: Early Lessons from State Flexibility Waivers," available at http://www.help.senate. gov/newsroom/press/release/?id=a63ca5a2-ded7-4530-997a-4048f01fee58 (last accessed September 2014).
- 9 New America Foundation, "No Child Left Behind -Overview," available at http://febp.newamerica.net/ background-analysis/no-child-left-behind-overview (last accessed August 2014).
- 10 No Child Left Behind Act of 2001, Public Law 107-110, 107th Cong., 1st sess. (January 8, 2002).
- 11 Ibid.
- 12 U.S. Department of Education, "States Granted Waivers From No Child Left Behind Allowed to Reapply for Renewal for 2014 and 2015 School Years," Press release, August 29, 2013, available at http://www.ed.gov/news/ press-releases/states-granted-waivers-no-child-leftbehind-allowed-reapply-renewal-2014-and-201.
- 13 Council of Chief State School Officers, "Principles and Processes for State Leadership on Next-Generation Accountability Systems," available at http://www. ccsso.org/Documents/2011/Principles%20and%20 Processes%20for%20State%20Leadership%20on%20 Next-Generation%20Accountability%20Systems%20 (Final)%20(2).pdf (last accessed September 2014).

- 14 U.S. Department of Education, "ESEA Flexibility," available at http://www2.ed.gov/policy/elsec/guid/eseaflexibility/index.html (last accessed August 2014).
- 15 Catherine Gewertz and Andrew Ujifusa, "National Landscape Fragments as States Plan Common-Core Testing," Education Week, May 20, 2014, available at http://www.edweek.org/ew/articles/2014/05/21/32ass essment ep.h33.html.
- 16 Center for K-12 Assessment & Performance Management at ETA, "Coming Together to Raise Achievement: New Assessments for the Common Core Standards" (2012), available at http://www.k12center.org/rsc/pdf/ Coming\_Together\_April\_2012\_Final.PDF.
- 17 Gewertz and Ujifusa, "National Landscape Fragments as States Plan Common-Core Testing."
- 18 Ibid.
- 19 Ross Brenneman, "Performance Assessment Re-Emerging in Schools," Education Week Teacher, March 4, 2014, available at http://www.edweek.org/tm/articles/2014/03/05/ndia\_performanceassessment.html.
- 20 New Hampshire Department of Education, "Executive Summary: Enriching New Hampshire's Assessment and Accountability Systems through Quality Performance Assessment" (2013), available at http://www.education. nh.gov/assessment-systems/documents/executivesummary.pdf.
- 21 Ibid.
- 22 Maine Department of Education, "What is Proficiency-Based Education?," available at http://www.maine.gov/ doe/proficiency/about/proficiency-based.html (last accessed August 2014).
- 23 An Act to Prepare Maine People for the Future Economy, S.P. 439, 125 Maine Legislature. 1 sess. (2011), available at http://www.mainelegislature.org/legis/bills/getPDF. asp?paper=SP0439&item=1&snum=125.
- 24 Council of Chief State School Officers, "Innovation Lab Network," available at http://www.ccsso.org/What\_ We\_Do/Innovation\_Lab\_Network.html (last accessed August 2014).
- 25 Mark Ehlert, "Choosing the Right Growth Measure," Education Next 14 (2) (2014), available at http://educationnext.org/choosing-the-right-growth-measure/.
- 26 U.S. Department of Education, "ESEA Flexibility."
- 27 Jeremy Ayers and Isabel Owen, "No Child Left Behind Waivers: Promising Ideas from Second Round Applications" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2012), available at http://www.americanprogress.org/ issues/education/report/2012/07/27/11815/no-childleft-behind-waivers/.
- 28 U.S. Department of Education, New Mexico ESEA Flexibility Request (2012), available at https://www2.ed.gov/ policy/eseaflex/approved-requests/nmrequestp3.pdf.
- 29 Oregon Department of Education, "New Report Cards Focus on Growth and Student Outcomes," available at http://www.ode.state.or.us/news/announcements/announcement.aspx?=9408 (last accessed August 2014).

- 30 Georgia Department of Education, "2014 CCRPI Indicators" (2014), available at http://www.gadoe.org/ Curriculum-Instruction-and-Assessment/Accountability/Documents/2014%20CCRPI%20Indicators%20 04.01.14%20v2.pdf.
- 31 Louisiana Department of Education, "School Performance Scores," available at https://www.louisianabelieves.com/accountability/school-performance-scores (last accessed August 2014).
- 32 State of New Jersey Department of Education, "ESEA Waiver Request from New Jersey" (2012), available at https://www2.ed.gov/policy/eseaflex/approvedrequests/nj.pdf.
- 33 Ibid.
- 34 The Education Trust, "NCLB Waiver Summary: Minnesota" (2012), available at http://www.edtrust.org/ sites/edtrust.org/files/Minnesota\_AccountabilitySummary\_FINAL\_2\_29\_12.pdf.
- 35 Public Schools of North Carolina, "Standards of Quality and Verification Process for High School Accountability" (2012), available at http://www.dpi.state.nc.us/docs/ accountability/testing/eoc/gradproject14.pdf.
- 36 Rhode Island Department of Education, "The Rhode Island Diploma System," available at http://www.ride. ri.gov/StudentsFamilies/RIPublicSchools/DiplomaSystem.aspx (last accessed August 2014).
- 38 U.S. Department of Education, Wisconsin ESEA Flexibility Request (2012), available at http://oea.dpi.wi.gov/files/ oea/pdf/Wi%20ESEA%20Flexibility%20Request%20Approved.pdf.
- 39 Linda Darling-Hammond, Gene Wilhoit, and Linda Pittenger, "Accountability for College and Career Readiness: Developing a New Paradigm," Education Policy Analysis Archives 22 (86) (2014), available at http://epaa. asu.edu/ois/article/view/1724/1334.
- 40 Craig D. Jerald, "On Her Majesty's School Inspection Service" (Washington: Education Sector, 2012), available at http://www.educationsector.org/sites/default/files/ publications/UKInspections-RELEASED.pdf.
- 41 U.S. Department of Education, Kentucky ESEA Flexibility Request (2012), available at http://education.kv.gov/ school/Documents/NCLB%20Waiver.pdf.
- 42 Kentucky Department of Education, "Program Reviews," available at http://education.ky.gov/curriculum/pgmrev/Pages/default.aspx (last accessed September 2014.)
- 43 U.S. Department of Education, Kentucky ESEA Flexibility Reauest.
- 44 Missouri Department of Elementary & Secondary Education, "Comprehensive Guide to the Missouri School Improvement Program" (2014), available at http://dese. mo.gov/sites/default/files/MSIP-5-comprehensiveguide-3-13\_1.pdf.
- 45 Missouri Department of Elementary & Secondary Education, "Missouri School Improvement Program: Support and Intervention" (2014), available at http:// dese.mo.gov/sites/default/files/MissouriSchoolImprovementPlan.pdf.
- 46 Ohio Department of Education, "Diagnostic Review," available at http://education.ohio.gov/Topics/School-Improvement/Diagnostic-Review (last accessed August 2014).

- 47 Rhode Island Department of Education, "School Transformation: Providing Intervention, Monitoring, and Support to Schools," available at http://www.ride.ri.gov/ InformationAccountability/Accountability/SchoolTransformation.aspx (last accessed August 2014).
- 48 NYC Department of Education, "Overview: Quality Review," available at http://schools.nyc.gov/Accountability/tools/review/Process/Overview/default.htm (last accessed August 2014).
- 49 Maureen Kelleher, "New York City's Children First: Lessons in School Reform" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2014), available at http://cdn. american progress.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/ NYCeducationReport.pdf.
- 50 New York State Education Department, "ESEA Flexibility Request" (2012), available at https://www2.ed.gov/ policy/eseaflex/approved-requests/ny.pdf..
- 51 Daniel C. Humphrey and others, "Peer Review: Getting Serious About Teacher Support and Evaluation" (San Francisco, CA: The Stuart Foundation, 2011).
- 52 New Hampshire Department of Education, "Executive Summary.'
- 53 New York State Education Department, "Distinguished Educators Program," available at http://www.p12. nysed.gov/accountability/de/home.html (last accessed August 2014).
- 54 Kentucky Department of Education, "Unbridled Learning Accountability Model (With Focus on the Next-Generation Learners Component)" (2012).
- 55 U.S. Department of Education, New Mexico ESEA Flexibility Reauest.
- 56 U.S. Department of Education, Wisconsin ESEA Flexibility Request (2012), available at http://oea.dpi.wi.gov/files/ oea/pdf/Wi%20ESEA%20Flexibility%20Request%20Approved.pdf.
- 57 U.S. Department of Education, California Office to Reform Education: Local Educational Agencies' Request for Waivers under Section 9401 of the Elementary and Secondary Education Act of 1965 (2012), available at http:// www2.ed.gov/policy/eseaflex/approved-requests/ corerequestfullredacted.pdf.
- 58 U.S. Department of Education, New Mexico ESEA Flexibility Request (2012), available at http://www2.ed.gov/ policy/eseaflex/approved-requests/nm.pdf.
- 59 U.S. Department of Education, Oklahoma will be C3 by 2020: All children will graduate from high school College, Career, and Citizen Ready by 2020 (2012), available at https://www2.ed.gov/policy/eseaflex/approvedrequests/ok-amendment.pdf. Note: Oklahoma ESEA flexibility request.
- 60 Kimberly Beltran, "New Entity to Oversee, Support LCFF Accountability," Cabinet Report, November 22, 2013, available at https://cabinetreport.com/politics-education/new-entity-to-oversee-support-lcff-accountability.
- 61 Massachusetts Department of Elementary & Secondary Education, "Summary of Targeted Assistance Options," available at http://www.doe.mass.edu/apa/sss/dsac/ services.pdf (last accessed September 2014).

- 62 Reform Support Network, "Turning Around the Lowest Achieving Schools," available at https://www2.ed.gov/ about/inits/ed/implementation-support-unit/techassist/state-supports.pdf (last accessed September 2014): Public Schools of North Carolina, "Direct and School Transformation," available at http://www.dpi. state.nc.us/schooltransformation/ (last accessed August
- 63 Ben Jensen and Joanna Farmer, "School Turnaround in Shanghai" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2013), available at http://cdn.americanprogress.org/ wp-content/uploads/2013/05/ShanghaiReport-2.pdf.
- 64 U.S. Department of Education, California Office to Reform Education: Local Educational Agencies' Request for Waivers under Section 9401 of the Elementary and Secondary Education Act of 1965.
- 65 U.S. Department of Education, ESEA Flexibility Request Massachusetts (2012), available at https://www2. ed.gov/policy/eseaflex/approved-requests/ma.pdf.
- 66 U.S. Department of Education, ESEA Flexibility Request (2011), available at https://www2.ed.gov/policy/eseaflex/approved-requests/tnrequestamended072413.pdf. Note: Tennessee ESEA flexibility request.
- 67 Colorado Department of Education, "Turnaround Network," available at http://www.cde.state.co.us/accountability/turnaroundnetwork (last accessed August 2014).
- 68 Connecticut State Department of Education Turnaround Office, "Frequently Asked Questions" (2013), available at http://www.sde.ct.gov/sde/lib/sde/pdf/ commissionersnetwork/csde\_commissioners\_network\_faq.pdf.
- 69 Delaware Department of Education, ESEA Flexibility Request Amendment Proposal (2014), available at http:// www.doe.k12.de.us/infosuites/ddoe/FlexFiles/ESEAFlexAmendmentProposalREVISED032714.pdf.
- 70 Lauren Morando Rhim and Sam Redding, eds., "The State Role in School Turnaround: Emerging Best Practices" (San Francisco, CA: The Center on School Turnaround, 2014), available at http://centeronschoolturnaround.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/01/ The\_State\_Role\_in\_School\_Turnaround.pdf.
- 71 State of New Jersey Department of Education, "ESEA Waiver Request from New Jersey" (2011), available at https://www2.ed.gov/policy/eseaflex/approvedrequests/nj.pdf.
- 72 Florida Department of Education, "Florida State Application for FY13 SIG 1003(g) Funds" (2013), available at http://www2.ed.gov/programs/sif/apps2013/flapp13.
- 73 Ibid.
- 74 Lyndsey Layton, "In New Orleans, major school district closes traditional public schools for good," The Washington Post, May 28, 2014, available at http://www. washingtonpost.com/local/education/in-new-orleanstraditional-public-schools-close-for-good/2014/05/28/ ae4f5724-e5de-11e3-8f90-73e071f3d637\_story.html.
- 75 Louisiana Department of Education, "Recovery School District Legislatively Required Plan" (2006), available at www.louisianaschools.net/lde/uploads/8932.doc.
- 76 Louisiana Department of Education, "Our Approach," available at http://www.rsdla.net/apps/pages/index.  $jsp?uREC\_ID=195270\&type=d\&pREC\_ID=393783~(last$ accessed August 2014).

- 77 Public Impact, "Extraordinary Authority Districts: Design Considerations—Framework and Takeaways' (2014), available at http://www.ecs.org/html/NF2014/ NF2014agendapresentations/Statewide-Recovery-Districts-Public-Impact.pdf.
- 78 Jessica Reed, "Learning from the Louisiana Example," Michigan Policy Network, May 20, 2014, available at http://www.michiganpolicy.com/index. php?option=com\_content&view=article&id=129 8:learning-from-the-louisiana-example-the-eaaand-charter-schools&catid=35:k-12-education-policy-briefs&Itemid=117.
- 79 U.S. Department of Education, Arkansas ESEA Flexibility Request (2012), available at http://www2.ed.gov/policy/ eseaflex/approved-requests/arregamend712014.pdf.
- 80 Connecticut State Department of Education, "Alliance Districts," available at http://www.sde.ct.gov/sde/cwp/ view.asp?a=2683&Q=334226 (last accessed August 2014); U.S. Department of Education, "Connecticut," available at http://www2.ed.gov/policy/elsec/guid/esea-flexibility/map/ct.html (last accessed August 2014).
- 81 U.S. Department of Education, "Illinois," available at http://www2.ed.gov/policy/elsec/guid/esea-flexibility/ map/il.html.
- 82 Massachusetts Department of Elementary and Secondary Education, "Differentiated Recognition, Accountability, & Support" (2011), available at http://www.doe. mass.edu/apa/sss/turnaround/DRAS.pdf.
- 83 Oregon Education Investment Board, "Achievement Compacts: Ouestions and Answers" (2012), available at http://www.oregon.gov/Gov/OEIB/Docs/PFAchievementCompactsQandA.pdf?ga=t;
- U.S. Department of Education, ESEA Flexibility Request (2012), available at http://www2.ed.gov/policy/eseaflex/approved-requests/or.pdf. Note: Oregon ESEA flexibility request.
- 84 Ken Green, chief district support officer, Tennessee Department of Education, interview with author, Washington, D.C., August 8, 2014.
- 85 U.S. Department of Education, California Office to Reform Education: Local Educational Agencies' Request for Waivers under Section 9401 of the Elementary and Secondary Education Act of 1965.
- 86 Mississippi Department of Education, "ESEA Flexibility Request" (2012), available at https://www2.ed.gov/ policy/eseaflex/approved-requests/msamendreq72014.
- 87 U.S. Department of Education, New Mexico ESEA Flexibility Request (2012), available at https://www2.ed.gov/ policy/eseaflex/approved-requests/nmrequestp3.pdf.
- 88 U.S. Department of Education, ESEA Flexibility Request. Note: Tennessee ESEA flexibility request.
- 89 Baltimore City Public Schools, "Adopted Operating Budget: Fiscal Year 2014" (2014), available at http:// www.baltimorecityschools.org/cms/lib/MD01001351/ Centricity/Domain/74/FY14-AdoptedBudget-CompleteBook.pdf.
- 90 Baltimore City Public Schools, "Fair Student Funding: What It Means for Your Child," available at http://www. baltimorecityschools.org/cms/lib/MD01001351/Centricity/domain/6625/pdf/20120316-FSF101-FINAL.pdf (last accessed September 2014).

- 91 California Department of Education, "Local Control Funding Formula Overview," available at http://www. cde.ca.gov/fg/aa/lc/lcffoverview.asp (last accessed August 2014).
- 92 Syllabus to Abbott v. Burke, 199 NJ 140 (2009), available at http://www.edlawcenter.org/assets/files/pdfs/abottv-burke/M129309AbbottvBurke.pdf.
- 93 John Mooney, "Explainer: Abbot v. Burke, Changing the Rules for Funding Schools," NJ Spotlight, July 23, 2013, available at http://www.njspotlight.com/stories/13/0710/1649/.
- 94 School Board Notes, "A School Board Member's Guide to NJ's New School Funding Formula," available at http://www.njsba.org/sb\_notes/20080124/faq.html (last accessed August 2014).
- 95 NYC Department of Education, "DOE Overview," available at http://schools.nyc.gov/AboutUs/funding/overview/default.htm (last accessed August 2014).
- 96 Lesli A. Maxwell, "New York School Funding: Is It Getting Fairer?" Education Week, April 10, 2013, available at http://blogs.edweek.org/edweek/District\_Dossier/2013/04/new\_york\_schools\_funding\_is\_it.html.
- 97 Ohio Department of Education, "Ohio's School Foundation Payment System: Pathway to Student Success (PASS) Form: An Evidence-Based Model" (2010), available at https://education.ohio.gov/getattachment/Topics/Finance-and-Funding/State-Funding-For-Schools/ Financial-Reports/District-Payment-Reports/PASS-Summary-FY10-11v2.pdf.aspx.
- 98 U.S. Department of Education, New Mexico ESEA Flexibility Request (2012).
- 99 Jesse Levin and others, "Evaluation of Hawaii's Weighted Student Formula" (Washington: American Institutes for Research, 2013), available at https://www. hawaiipublicschools.org/DOE%20Forms/WSF/WeightedStudentFormulaEval061913.pdf.
- 100 Ulrich Boser, "Return on Investment: 2014: A Districtby-District Evaluation of U.S. Education Productivity" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2014), available at http://cdn.americanprogress.org/wpcontent/uploads/2014/07/ROI-report.pdf.
- 101 New York State Governor's Office, "Governor Cuomo Awards Competitive Education Grants to Twelve Districts That Found More Than \$9 Million in Efficiency Savings and Can Serve as Models to Other Districts," Press release, March 8, 2013, available at https://www. governor.ny.gov/press/03082013Competitive-Education-Grants-Awarded.
- 102 Boser, "Return on Investment: 2014: A District-by-District Evaluation of U.S. Education Productivity."
- 103 Virginia Department of Planning & Budget, "The Virginia School Efficacy Review Program," available at http://www.dpb.virginia.gov/school/index.cfm (last accessed August 2014).
- 104 Robert Gordon, Thomas J. Kane, and Douglas O. Staiger. "Identifying Effective Teachers using Performance on the Job" (Washington: Brookings Institution, 2006), available at http://www.brookings.edu/views/ papers/200604hamilton\_1.pdf; Raj Chetty, John N. Friedman, and Jonah E. Rockoff, "The Long-Term Impact of Teachers: Teacher Value-Added and Student Outcomes in Adulthood." Working Paper 17699 (National Bureau of Economic Research, 2011), available at http:// obs.rc.fas.harvard.edu/chetty/value\_added.pdf.

- 105 Council of Chief State School Officers, "Our Responsibility, Our Promise" (2012), available at http://www. ccsso.org/Documents/2012/Our Responsibility Our Promise 2012.pdf.
- 106 The states are: Arkansas, Colorado, Delaware, Idaho, Illinois, Iowa, Kansas, Kentucky, Louisiana, Maryland, Massachusetts, Maine, Michigan, Missouri, Nebraska, New Hampshire, North Carolina, Oregon, Pennsylvania, Rhode Island, South Carolina, South Dakota, Tennessee, Vermont, and Virginia. See Council of Chief State School Officers, "25 States Commit to Advancing Recommendations to Improve Educator Preparation," Press release. December 17, 2012, available at http://www.ccsso.org/ News\_and\_Events/Press\_Releases/25\_States\_Commit\_ to\_Advancing\_Recommendations\_to\_Improve\_Educator\_Preparation.html#sthash.8Tsgw7CQ.dpuf.
- 107 Jenny DeMonte, "Who is in Charge of Teacher Preparation?" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2013), available at http://cdn.americanprogress.org/ wp-content/uploads/2013/06/DeMonteTeacherPrepbrief-1.pdf.
- 108 Georgia Professional Standards Commission, "Understanding the 2014 Educator Certification Rule Changes" (2014), available at http://www.gapsc.com/Commission/policies\_guidelines/Downloads/2014EducatorCert ificationRuleChanges.pdf.
- 109 Georgia Partnership for Excellence in Education, "Top Ten Issues to Watch in 2014" (2014), available at http:// www.gpee.org/fileadmin/files/PDFs/GPEE\_Top\_ Ten\_2014\_Final.pdf.
- 110 New Teacher Center, "State Policy Review: Teacher Induction, Massachusetts" (2011), available at http:// www.new teacher center.org/sites/default/files/ntc/main/pdfs/StatePolicyReviews//Massachusetts.pdf.
- 111 White House and U.S. Department of Education, Setting the Pace: Expanding Opportunity for America's Students Under Race to the Top (2014), available at http://www.whitehouse.gov/sites/default/files/docs/  $setting the pacert treport\_\bar{3}\text{-}2414\_b.pdf.$
- 112 Massachusetts Department of Higher Education, "Incentive Program for Aspiring Teachers Program," available at http://www.osfa.mass.edu/default. asp?page=aspireteacherswaiver (last accessed August
- 113 New Teacher Center, "Delaware" (2011), available at http://www.newteachercenter.org/state/delaware.
- 114 Ayers and Owen, "No Child Left Behind Waivers: Promising Ideas from Second Round Applications."
- 115 Massachusetts Department of Elementary & Secondary Education, "Professional Development: Resources and Tools for Educators," available at http://www.doe.mass. edu/pd/educators.html (last accessed September 2014).
- 116 Massachusetts Department of Elementary & Secondary Education, "Educator Evaluation," available at http:// www.doe.mass.edu/edeval/ (last accessed August 2014).
- 117 Jennifer Gill, "Make Room for the Principal Supervisors" (New York, NY: Wallace Foundation, 2013), available at http://www.wallacefoundation.org/knowledge-center/ school-leadership/district-policy-and-practice/Documents/Make-Room-for-the-Principal-Supervisors.pdf.

- 118 Denver Public Schools, "School Leadership Framework: The DPS School Leadership Framework," available at http://careers.dpsk12.org/school-leadership-framework/ (last accessed September 2014).
- 119 Lee Alvoid and Watt Lesley Black Jr., "The Changing Role of the Principal: How High-Achieving Districts are Recalibrating School Leadership" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2014), available at http://cdn. american progress.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/06/ PrincipalPD-FINAL.pdf.
- 120 Sharon Kebschull Barrett, "Charlotte's Project L.I.F.T. Flooded with Applications," Opportunity Culture, April 24, 2013, available at http://opportunityculture.org/ charlottes-project-l-i-f-t-flooded-with-applications/.
- 121 Kentucky Department of Education, "Unbridled Learning Accountability Model (With Focus on the Next-Generation Learners Component)" (2012), available at http://education.ky.gov/comm/ul/documents/ white%20paper%20062612%20final.pdf.
- 122 Melissa Mellor, "Kentucky's Next-Generation Instructional Programs and Support," Policy Priorities 20 (2) (2014): 5, available at http://www.ascd.org/publications/newsletters/policy\_priorities/vol20/num02/ Kentucky%27s\_Next-Generation\_Instructional\_Programs\_and\_Support.aspx.

- 123 Kentucky Department of Education, "Next Generation Professionals Delivery Plan," available at http://education.ky.gov/COMMOFED/CDU/Pages/NxGenProfessionals.aspx (last accessed August 2014).
- 124 U.S. Department of Education, Kentucky ESEA Flexibility Request.
- 125 Ibid.
- 126 Massachusetts Department of Elementary & Secondary Education, "Summary of Targeted Assistance Options."
- 127 National Council on Teacher Quality, "2013 State Teacher Policy Yearbook: Massachusetts" (2013) http:// www.nctq.org/dmsView/2013\_State\_Teacher\_Policy\_ Yearbook\_Massachusetts\_NCTQ\_Report.
- 128 U.S. Department of Education, New Hampshire ESEA Flexibility Waiver (2012), available at http://www. education.nh.gov/accountability-system/documents/ flexibility-waiver-request 20130605.pdf.
- 129 New Hampshire Department of Education, "NH Performance Assessment Network," available at http://www. education.nh.gov/assessment-systems/ (last accessed August 2014).
- 130 Council of Chief State School Officers, "Principles and Processes for State Leadership on Next-Generation Accountability Systems."

The Center for American Progress is a nonpartisan research and educational institute dedicated to promoting a strong, just and free America that ensures opportunity for all. We believe that Americans are bound together by a common commitment to these values and we aspire to ensure that our national policies reflect these values. We work to find progressive and pragmatic solutions to significant domestic and international problems and develop policy proposals that foster a government that is "of the people, by the people, and for the people."

The Council of Chief State School Officers (CCSSO) is a nonpartisan, nationwide, non-profit organization of public officials who head departments of elementary and secondary education in the states, the District of Columbia, the Department of Defense Education Activity, and five U.S. extra-state jurisdictions. CCSSO provides leadership, advocacy, and technical assistance on major educational issues. The Council seeks member consensus on major educational issues and expresses their views to civic and professional organizations, federal agencies, Congress, and the public.





